RECOGNITION AND **R**ESPONSE IN THE **P**LANT **I**MMUNE **S**YSTEM

Zachary Nimchuk,^a Thomas Eulgem,^a Ben F. Holt III,^a and Jeffery L. Dangl^{a,b,c}

^aDepartment of Biology and ^bCurriculum in Genetics and Dept. of Microbiology and Immunology, University of North Carolina. Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27599-3280; ^cCurrent address: Center for Plant Cell Biology, Department of Botany and Plant Sciences, University of California, Riverside, California 92521; email: zackn@email.unc.edu, thomas.eulgem@ucr.edu, bholt@email.unc.edu, dangl@email.unc.edu

Key Words resistance gene, disease, genetics, *Arabidopsis thaliana*, NBS-LRR, defense response

■ Abstract Molecular communication between plants and potential pathogens determines the ultimate outcome of their interaction. The directed delivery of microbial molecules into and around the host cell, and the subsequent perception of these by the invaded plant tissue (or lack thereof), determines the difference between disease and disease resistance. In theory, any foreign molecule produced by an invading pathogen could act as an elicitor of the broad physiological and transcriptional re-programming indicative of a plant defense response. The diversity of elicitors recognized by plants seems to support this hypothesis. Additionally, these elicitors are often virulence factors from the pathogen recognized by the host. This recognition, though genetically as simple as a ligand-receptor interaction, may require additional host proteins that are the nominal targets of virulence factor action. Transduction of recognition probably requires regulated protein degradation and results in massive changes in cellular homeostasis, including a programmed cell death known as the hypersensitive response.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	580
A DEFINITIVE REPERTOIRE	581
R PROTEINS: MASTERS OF THEIR OWN DOMAINS	581
R PROTEINS DO THE INTRAMOLECULAR TWIST	584
R PROTEIN ACTIVATION: GUARDING THE TRIGGERMAN	585
BUILDING A COMPLEX AND TEARING IT DOWN	588
AFTER THE TRIGGER IS PULLED	590
A FLOOD OF GENE ACTIVATION	593
GLOBALIZATION OF DEFENSE REGULATION	594

JASMONIC AND ETHYLENE-DEPENDENT DEFENSE	
SIGNALING PATHWAYS	597
CONCLUSIONS: MIND THE TRIGGER	598

INTRODUCTION

Specific elicitors of host defense responses are encoded by pathogen avirulence (avr) genes. These activate plant defense responses during pathogen infection in both laboratory settings and field studies (59). We focus mostly on the genetics of *R*-mediated disease resistance. This term refers to the genetic interaction of pathogenderived *avr* genes and corresponding resistance (*R*) genes in plants. *R*-mediated resistance was originally demonstrated by H.H. Flor's work on the flax-flax rust pathosystem (46). Since then, *R* genes have been shown to govern plant-pathogen interactions in a variety of host plants, directing responses toward a broad diversity of pathogens including bacteria, fungi, oomycetes, nematodes, and viruses, and even insects (22). The hallmark of *R*-mediated resistance is specificity; most *R* genes recognize one, or in limited cases two, specific pathogen-derived molecules, encoded by *avr* genes. Thus, the easiest mechanistic interpretation of the genetics in these systems is that the R protein is a receptor for a pathogen-encoded Avr protein ligand. However, as detailed below, there is very little evidence supporting this simple model.

Avr proteins can be recognized in the plant extracellular space (apoplast), as during some fungal infections, or they may be injected into the host cell, as is the case with *Pseudomonas syringae* and other bacterial pathogens that use the evolutionarily conserved type III secretion pilus to deliver disease effectors into eukaryotic hosts (30, 79). The maintenance of avr genes in pathogen populations is largely due to the fact that they can act as virulence factors (e.g., they are required for full levels of pathogen growth) on susceptible hosts (reviewed in 79). Thus at the population level, both host and pathogen are in constant evolutionary battle to evolve the ability to recognize and to evade recognition and maintain virulence, respectively. Readers interested in the population genetics and evolution of plantpathogen recognition are referred to a recent review on this subject (50). In contrast to pathogen-delivered Avr proteins, some experimental systems rely on plant responses to purified, or partially purified, pathogen-derived elicitor preparations. Although these elicitors can trigger pathways similar to those initiated by Avr-R signaling, their relevance to the functional outcome of a host-pathogen response is not well understood and is not discussed in this review (55).

R-mediated recognition triggers highly effective resistance, stopping pathogen growth (termed an incompatible interaction, the plant is resistant, the pathogen, avirulent). Absence of specific recognition allows pathogen growth and spread (termed a compatible interaction, the plant is susceptible, the pathogen, virulent). However, even in the absence of specific recognition, the plant defense system is activated to a certain level (basal defense) limiting the extent of disease.

R-mediated recognition in most cases leads to a hyper-activation of basal defense responses, and often is accompanied by a form of programmed host cell death

called the hypersensitive response (HR). Interestingly, defense responses activated by R genes are qualitatively very similar to those activated by virulent pathogens during infection (51). This overlap between defenses activated by R genes and those activated by virulent pathogens is clearly demonstrated by the existence of single plant mutations that affect both processes. One of the key questions in the field is how does specific recognition of pathogen-encoded Avr products by R proteins lead to a disease-resistant state that uses many of the same outputs as basal resistance?

In this review we focus on recent work addressing how R proteins recognize pathogen Avr proteins, and how R protein activity is regulated during this process. We also address how R proteins communicate to downstream signaling pathways. We consider whether this communication might convert defense pathways that normally are activated ineffectively during infection into a transcriptional output that is highly efficient at halting pathogen ingress. Due to space constraints, we cannot chronicle all known interactions and studies but instead focus largely on informative newer findings, especially in the excellent Arabidopsis genetic model system that has allowed the identification of many defense-related genes (Figure 1) (53).

A DEFINITIVE REPERTOIRE

The advent of genetic model systems and genome sequencing projects has revealed that plants invest a considerable percentage of their genome to the cultivation of *R* gene families. In Arabidopsis, it is estimated that there are $\sim 125 R$ genes (of the major structural class detailed below), whereas the rice genome encodes ~ 600 genes of this class. The actual function of all but a few of these in plant pathogen interactions is unknown (54). This sequence wealth, combined with forward genetic screens, revealed that *R* genes encode a limited set of structural classes (Figure 2) (39).

R PROTEINS: MASTERS OF THEIR OWN DOMAINS

The vast majority of *R* loci encode the so-called Nucleotide Binding Site-Leucine Rich Repeat (NBS-LRR) proteins. Studies of NBS-LRR proteins have begun to reveal potential functions for each discernible domain. NBS-LRR proteins have distinct N-terminal domains: either a putative coiled coil (CC) or a domain sharing homology with the cytoplasmic domain of Drosophila TOLL and mammalian IL-1 receptor (TIR). There appear to be no TIR-NBS-LRR proteins in rice, although there may be TIR-like domains in other genes. Of the other LRR-containing R protein structural classes, the receptor LRR-kinase proteins (see below) have been assigned functions in normal plant development and hormone perception as well as *R* function (e.g., 154, 161). In contrast, the NBS-LRR class has been genetically linked only to disease-resistance function. Thus, we argue that the NBS-LRR protein class represents the core component of the plant



Figure 1 Chromosomal locations of genes implicated in resistance gene defense signaling in Arabidopsis. Each of the five Arabidopsis chromosomes is depicted and the appropriate Arabidopsis gene has been placed on to the physical map using the program Chromosome Map Tool available at http://www.arabidopsis.org/jsp/ChromosomeMap/tool.jsp. Each gene is represented on the map by its commonly used gene name. Note that not all genes are referred to in the text.

immune system. Other R structures may have been derived from protein families with pleiotropic functions in plant growth and development. It is still possible that all non-NBS-LRR proteins might require the action of an NBS-LRR protein (see below).

The first common feature of the NBS-LRR class is a central nucleotide-binding domain (NBS) that possesses some similarity to the NBS domain of animal proapoptotic proteins such as APAF-1 (2, 158). In APAF-1, homo-hexamerization



Figure 2 Predicted structures for genetically defined plant resistance proteins. Names above protein structures are examples of R proteins in that respective class. Proteins are shown in relation to the plant plasma membrane. LRR, leucine-rich repeat. Kinase, serine/threonine kinase catalytic core. NBS, nucleotide binding site. TIR, Toll/Interleuken1-receptor-like. WRKY, W-Box DNA binding domain.

leads to ATP binding and hydrolysis as a prerequisite for subsequent signaling. Mutations in the NBS domain generally eliminate *R* function (148). Recent work has demonstrated that both the I2 and Mi NBS-LRR proteins can bind and hydrolyze ATP in vitro (145). Hydrolysis of ATP may therefore play a regulatory role as in APAF-1, although there has been no demonstration of R protein oligomerization to date.

The most common feature of all the R protein classes is the presence of a variable-length LRR domain. LRR domains found in other proteins mediate protein-protein interactions (72). LRR crystal structures from non-R proteins reveal a repeating β strand- α helix subunit structure that folds to form a solventexposed face implicated in protein-protein interactions (80). A wealth of DNA sequence data demonstrated that the LRR domains of different R genes are subjected to diversifying selection in predicted solvent exposed residues. In addition, domain-swapping experiments and mutational analysis demonstrated that recognition specificity is governed largely by the LRR domain (reviewed in 39). Taken together, these results suggest that the LRR domain may be responsible for interacting with Avr proteins directly. Although general demonstrations of direct Avr-R protein interaction have proven elusive, in vitro evidence suggests that AvrPi-ta from *Magnaporthe grisea* can bind to the LRR-like domain in the corresponding rice NBS-LRR R protein Pi-ta (68). In Arabidopsis, the NBS-LRR protein RPM1 recognizes *Pseudomonas syringae* expressing either the AvrRpm1 or AvrB type III effector proteins. A saturation-level screen for loss of RPM1 function led to a large *rpm1* allelic series (95 alleles) (151). Missense mutations in the LRR domain were statistically underrepresented. If the LRR domain mediates binding of Avr proteins, perhaps multiple residues may participate cooperatively in Avr binding, consistent with the observed multi-LRR contacts made by RNAase on the LRRs of RNAase inhibitor (80).

The LRR domain may bind additional host proteins as well. Genetic studies of the *RP2S* gene of Arabidopsis, which recognizes the AvrRpt2 protein from *P. syringae*, demonstrated that allelic diversity in the LRR domain could define a functionally relevant interaction with another host locus (9). This finding is supported by the occurrence of a dominant negative mutation in the LRR domain of Arabidopsis RPS5 (which recognizes the AvrPphB protein from *P. syringae*) that interferes with other *R* functions in Arabidopsis (163).

As mentioned above, NBS-LRRs are generally of one or two varieties; proteins that possess an N-terminal coiled coil domain (CC) or a Toll- IL1-Receptor-like (TIR) domain. It is presumed, based on animal models of these domains, that they are protein-protein interaction domains that may interact with signaling partner proteins. The Arabidopsis and rice genomes possess genes that resemble NBS-LRR R genes except that they lack one or more of the R protein domains. These can include TIR-NBS or CC-NBS genes or NBS-LRR genes, among other classes. Several NBS-LRR genes have been demonstrated to undergo alternative splicing, generating variants that encode proteins similar to the truncated R genes encoded separately by the genome. The TIR-NBS-LRR N gene in tobacco, which recognizes Tobacco mosaic virus (TMV), alters the relative abundance of splice variants during TMV infection. In this study, different splice variants were expressed, and only the WT gene conferred N function (31). In contrast, similar studies using the flax L6 gene demonstrated that alternate splicing, though observed, may not be important for function (6). One alternate hypothesis is that other L6-like R gene splice variants can compensate for lack of splicing in L6. Although there is no demonstrated functional significance of R gene splice products, the existence of genes that are similar to splice variants makes it tempting to speculate that they have a function in R gene regulation.

R PROTEINS DO THE INTRAMOLECULAR TWIST

Loss-of-function alleles have been mapped to all NBS-LRR R protein domains, but some mutations in the LRR domain or NBS domain can lead to constitutively active R genes in the absence of pathogen (10, 135). This suggests that R protein function is at least in part under negative regulation. Recent work

suggests that this negative regulation may be in part due to intramolecular protein interactions. Mi is a tomato CC-NBS-LRR protein that governs resistance to both aphids and root-knot nematodes. Domain-swapping experiments between a functional Mi-1.1 allele and a nonfunctional Mi-1.2 allele led to chimeras that triggered constitutive cell death in the absence of pathogen in transient expression assays (64). Interestingly, cell death could be suppressed by co-expression of the N-terminal domain of individual parent genes, suggesting either that intermolecular or *trans* interactions involving the N-terminal domain may regulate R protein activation.

Direct evidence for R protein domain interactions, and support for intramolecular regulation, was provided by immunoprecipitation experiments using domains of Rx, a CC-NBS-LRR that recognizes the PVX coat protein in potato, and the closely related GPA2 protein, a potato NBS-LRR that recognizes nematode pathogens (100). In these experiments, Rx function was restored by co-expression of either the CC-NBS with the LRR domain or the CC with the NBS-LRR domains. These domains co-immunoprecipitated, even though full-length Rx proteins did not, suggesting that this interaction, although assayed in *trans*, was due originally to intramolecular interactions. The association of the CC with the NBS domain required a functional NBS motif, but NBS status did not affect LRR interactions. suggesting that nucleotide binding status regulates domain interactions. Constitutively active NBS alleles of Rx required an LRR domain in order to trigger Avr-independent cell death, suggesting a positive role for the LRR in signaling or associating with signaling components. Taken together, these results suggest that in the absence of pathogen, NBS-LRR proteins may be maintained in an inactive state by intramolecular repression.

R PROTEIN ACTIVATION: GUARDING THE TRIGGERMAN

It is unlikely that R proteins act alone to recognize and transduce Avr-dependent signals, given the lack of data supporting direct interaction between them. Indeed, initial immunoprecipitation studies on the RPM1 and RPS2 proteins of Arabidopsis suggested that several proteins can interact with NBS-LRR proteins (87, 148). One can envision that additional proteins may stabilize R protein complexes, act as cofactors for Avr binding, act as early signaling partners, regulate R protein activity, or combinations thereof. In any case, the identification of proteins that can interact with R proteins has shed some light onto Avr-R protein interactions.

As mentioned above, many *avr* genes also function as virulence factors in susceptible hosts (genotype *r*). With the exception of some virally encoded Avr proteins, in most cases it is not known how an Avr protein acts as a virulence factor or what host genes are required for this function. In a few cases, it is known that Avr proteins can function to inhibit host defense responses in susceptible plants, including R-mediated defense responses (e.g., 121, 155). This suggests that host cellular targets of virulence function could be components of defense signaling

pathways. One suggestion (22, 159) is that R proteins may not recognize pathogen virulence (avirulence) molecules directly, but rather the cellular consequence of their actions in the host cell. This notion has been fleshed out into the "Guard Hypothesis," which at its most basic suggests that targets of pathogen virulence factors are associated with R proteins.

Several lines of indirect evidence support this hypothesis, particularly with respect to bacterial type III effector proteins as virulence factors. First, the site of virulence function action overlaps with the site of R triggering for several pathogen type III effector proteins. For instance, AvrRpm1 and AvrB require localization to the host plasma membrane for virulence functions in susceptible hosts, and similarly, for recognition by plasma membrane-associated RPM1 in resistant hosts (13, 106). Similarly, members of the AvrBs3 family of Xanthomonas proteins require nuclear localization for both their virulence and avirulence functions (85, 157, 170). Second, in the few cases where a biochemical function can be ascribed to an Avr protein, biochemical activity correlated with triggering of the R protein, suggesting that the R protein may recognize the products of Avr enzymatic activity and not simply the Avr as a ligand (see below). Third, an Avr protein can affect the activity of partner proteins in the absence of the R protein (see below). The Guard Hypothesis is far from proven. Notably lacking is a demonstrated requirement for host proteins in pathogen virulence. This hypothesis is nevertheless a useful guide and may prove informative in the design or interpretation of experiments.

The potential difficulty in assignment of function to an R partner is illustrated in recent studies of Arabidopsis RIN4, a small protein of unknown biochemical function (93). RIN4, like RPM1 and AvrB and AvrRpm1, is a membrane-associated protein. RIN4 can complex with AvrB and AvrRpm1, leading to RIN4 phosphorylation, even in the absence of RPM1. Loss of wild-type RIN4 blocks RPM1 function, but also prevents RPM1 accumulation, suggesting that RIN4 is required for RPM1 stability. Reduction of RIN4 levels results in plants with constitutive defense responses, reminiscent of ectopic overexpression of NBS-LRR proteins. True null rin4 plants are inviable. Mutations in RPS2 block rin4 lethality, proving that *rin4* plants display constitutive defense responses because of ectopic activation of RPS2 (92). Consistent with this, AvrRpt2 triggers degradation of RIN4 in an RPS2-independent manner and overexpression of RIN4 blocks, or slows, initiation of RPS2 function (5, 92). rps2 rin4 plants still display low-level constitutive defense induction, which is completely suppressed in an rps2 rin4 rpm1 triple mutant (Y. Belkhadir & J.L. Dangl, unpublished). Thus, RIN4 is also a negative regulator of RPM1 protein function. Both RPS2 and AvrRpt2 can interact in planta with RIN4, demonstrating that either RIN4 regulates activities in two distinct R protein complexes, or that RPM1 and RPS2 are both complexed with the same pool of RIN4. Thus RIN4 negatively regulates the function of at least two NBS-LRR R proteins, is the target of three diverse pathogen effectors in the absence of R protein, and also regulates the relative stability of two different NBS-LRR R proteins, one positively and the other negatively.

At least two NBS-LRR R proteins specifically require serine-threonine kinases for their function. In Arabidopsis, recognition of AvrPphB from P. syringae requires both the CC-NBS-LRR RPS5 and the serine-threonine kinase PBS1 (164). Mutational analysis indicates that PBS1 kinase activity appears to be required for RPS5 function (144). PBS1 is not required for any other known NBS-LRR protein function, suggesting specificity. AvrPphB encodes a cysteine protease whose activity is correlated with RPS5 activation (133). Recent work suggests that PBS1 is a target of AvrPphB (R. Innes, personal communication). PBS1 disappears during infection with bacteria expressing AvrPphB in a manner dependent on AvrPphB protease function. This outcome is superficially similar to the activation of RPS2 by AvrRpt2-induced degradation of RIN4, with the exception being that *pbs1* null mutants do not display constitutive RPS5-dependent defenses, whereas rin4 plants do display constitutive RPS2-dependent defenses. This suggests that if cleavage of PBS1 is important for RPS5 activation, then the conversion of PBS1 to an alternate form rather than a loss of PBS1 per se leads to RPS5 activation. It will be interesting to see how this correlates with any in planta activation of PBS1 kinase activity.

In tomato, the NBS-LRR PRF1 is required for recognition of AvrPto from *P. syringae* (128). AvrPto binds to the serine threonine kinase Pto in the yeast 2-hybrid assay, and Pto is the polymorphic determinant required for AvrPto recognition (131, 146). Constitutively activated Pto kinase mutants can trigger Prf1-dependent cell death in the absence of pathogen, suggesting at least that Pto kinase is inactive in uninfected plants (118). This also suggests that binding of AvrPto may trigger Pto kinase activity; however, a strict in planta activation has not been demonstrated. Pto also can interact with transcription factors implicated in basal defense responses in the 2-hydrid assay, suggesting that Pto may be a link between activation of R proteins and downstream transcriptional activation (58, 177). These intriguing hypotheses await biochemical and genetic testing in planta.

In the tomato-*Cladosporium fulvum* (Cf) system, recognition of extracellular Avr proteins is governed by the Cf class of resistance genes. These encode plasma membrane localized proteins containing an extracellular LRR domain and a short cytoplasmic domain (73, 113). In this system, the tomato *RCR3* gene is required for *Cf-2* recognition of *Avr2*, but not for functioning of related *Cf* genes. RCR3 encodes an extracellular cysteine protease (82). Naturally occurring alleles of *RCR3* were discovered that triggered *Cf-2* dependent auto-necrosis in an allele-dependent manner in the absence of pathogen. Domain swaps with the related Cf-9 protein demonstrated that the LRR domain of Cf-2 was required for RCR3-dependent activation of cell death. Although it is not known if RCR3 and the LRR domain of Cf-2 associate in planta, the genetics suggests that, like RIN4, RCR3 might function both as a true receptor for a pathogen-encoded molecule and as a protein required for R activation. This model might also predict the biochemical activity of the Avr2 molecule.

A recent and exciting example demonstrates how R and Avr protein may in fact interact directly to result in a functional protein complex. The Arabidopsis RRS1-R protein is an NBS-LRR with the addition of a WRKY transcription factor domain as part of its open reading frame (26, 27). Both it and the "susceptible" RRS-1S allele interact with the *Ralstonia solanacearum* POP2a in a yeast assay. Nuclear accumulation of both RRS1 alleles was regulated by POP2a. Thus, simple physical interaction and consequent subcellular localization cannot be sufficient to trigger resistance. This suggests that functional resistance is only provided by conversion to an active form of RRS1, potentially requiring another host product.

BUILDING A COMPLEX AND TEARING IT DOWN

Recent results suggest that R proteins, in particular NBS-LRR proteins, require cytosolic HSP90 for their function (138). Cytosolic HSP90s are evolutionarily conserved protein cochaperones that regulate the function and assembly of a diverse array of signaling proteins, referred to as client proteins (reviewed in 117). HSP90 molecules can dimerize and can hydrolyze ATP. HSP90 binding to client proteins can either increase or decrease client protein activity (117). Following gene silencing of all HSP90 isoforms, Nicotiana benthameanum plants lost all R functions tested, including NBS-LRR and other structural classes (D. Baulcombe, personal communication). In a high-throughput genetic screen (151), rare recessive mutations in Arabidopsis HSP90.2 were recovered that block RPM1 function but not that of other CC-NBS-LRR proteins (D. Hubert & J.L. Dangl, unpublished). HSP90.2 plants accumulated markedly reduced levels of RPM1 protein. In wild-type plants, cytosolic HSP90 isoforms could be immunoprecipitated with either RPM1 or RPS2. These findings suggest that R protein complex assembly and possible function can be regulated by HSP90. Null mutations in HSP90.2, however, have no effect on RPM1 function, suggesting that HSP90 function can be complemented by other HSP90 isoforms in the absence of HSP90.2.

Initial studies on RPM1 demonstrated that it disappeared during infection with bacteria delivering AvrRpm1 or AvrB (13). This degradation is probably proteasome dependent, as proteasome inhibitors blocked RPM1 disappearance (D. Mackey, J. Nam & J.L. Dangl, unpublished). A role for the proteasome in NBS-LRR function was recently demonstrated through the loss of *N*-gene function in tobacco plants silenced for components of the COP9 signalsome, a key regulator of proteasome function in multiple organisms (91). If plants do degrade R proteins following activation, it is possible that activation is coupled to R protein degradation to limit the extent of R protein activity, as has been seen for certain transcription factors in animal systems (101).

Cytosolic HSP90 function has been implicated in proteasome-mediated destruction of client proteins (62). For instance, the formation of functional steroid receptors in mammals requires cytosolic HSP90 (117). In the absence of HSP90, steroid receptors cannot bind steroid and are degraded in a proteasome-dependent manner. Following activation, steroid receptors are also degraded by the proteasome. This strategy might provide the cell with a mechanism for coupling the formation of functional receptor complexes to the degradation machinery by making both processes operate through HSP90. This system would provide a tight mechanism for limiting the effects of spontaneous receptor activation. In the case of R proteins, the lethal nature of misactivation might favor such a control strategy.

How might HSP90 proteins function as molecular links from NBS-LRR protein activation to their down-regulation via the proteasome? HSP90 can be immunoprecipitated with antisera against two proteins implicated in both R signaling and proteasome function, RAR1 and SGT1 (D. Hubert & J.L. Dangl, unpublished). Numerous recent papers highlight the central importance of the *SGT1b* and *RAR1* genes in *R-avr* defense signaling (138). *RAR1* was initially identified in barley, and acts as a nonredundant convergence point for race-specific disease resistance to numerous powdery mildew isolates (136). *RAR1* encodes a small protein with two novel zinc binding domains and a (plant-specific) COOH-terminal extension. The 60aa zinc binding domain (designated CHORD) is found in several animal proteins that have a COOH-terminal domain not found in plant RAR1 proteins—a region of so-called SGT1 homology. The SGT1 protein in yeast is a component of the SCF complex, which is an integral component in protein ubiquitylation.

Arabidopsis SGT1b is required for resistance against at least four separate isolates of Peronospora parasitica in Arabidopsis (4, 150). Each of these isolates triggers a distinct R gene; both CC-NBS-LRR and TIR-NBS-LRR subclasses are represented. These data strongly suggest that SGT1b, like RAR1 in barley, serves as a convergence point for numerous disease-resistance pathways. Nevertheless, some R genes do not require SGT1b (4). Arabidopsis has an SGT1b homolog, SGT1a, that might share overlapping function with SGT1b for some defense processes. This will be difficult to address, as *sgt1a sgt1b* double mutants are inviable (K. Shirasu, personal communication). Azevedo et al. (7) demonstrated that SGT1 is required for resistance to powdery mildew in barley. RAR1 and SGT1b interact in vivo in Arabidopsis (7). Furthermore, barley SGT1 interacts in vivo with two Arabidopsis E3 ubiquitin ligase subunits, SKP1 and CUL1. SCF complexes have E3 ligase activity, and are required to define substrate specificity for degradation and to deliver substrates into close proximity to proteins with E2 ubiquitylation activity (57). These interactions prompted Azevedo et al. (7) to test SGT1b for interaction with CSN4 and CSN5, two components of the COP9 signalosome. Both of these proteins interacted with SGT1. Care should be taken in interpreting the role of the proteasome pathway mutants strictly in R protein-mediated responses, as some are pleiotropic and affect downstream signaling systems (45).

As mentioned above for *hsp90.2* mutants, RPM1 also does not accumulate in an Arabidopsis *rar1* mutant (151), and RAR1 is required for RPM1 function. RPM1 function is not altered in *sgt1b*, and *sgt1a sgtb* double mutants are lethal (K. Shirasu, personal communication), precluding assessment of RPM1 function in these plants. Although no direct data concerning the degradation of other resistance proteins are available, our data suggest that HSP90 proteins may (*a*) help form R-containing complexes and hold them in a signaling-competent conformation and *(b)* mediate R protein interactions with components of the proteasome complex.

AFTER THE TRIGGER IS PULLED

There are at least three partially independent pathways leading to the transcriptional reprogramming typically associated with defense activation. Two of these pathways are defined by mutations either in the *EDS1* or *PAD4* (enhanced disease susceptibility) gene or the *NDR1* (non-race specific disease resistance) genes (15, 108). *EDS1* and *PAD4* affect the same spectrum of resistance genes, and EDS1 and PAD4 interact physically in vivo (43). Although both proteins have homology to catalytic lipases, no enzymatic activity has been demonstrated for either protein (43, 178). *NDR1* encodes a probable glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)anchored protein (B. Staskawicz, personal communication), although nothing is known about its biochemical function. In animal systems, GPI-anchored proteins are found in lipid rafts and are associated with receptor complexes including proteins such as HSP70 and HSP90, and the Sgt1b-like protein p23.

Initially, a simple two-pathway model was proposed based on using eds1 and ndr1 mutants to test for loss of specific R functions. This work suggested that CC-NBS-LRR-type R genes signaled through NDR1 whereas TIR-NBS-LRR genes signaled through EDS1 (1). Although this model is relatively robust, examples to the contrary have been found. For example, RPP8 and RPP13, two CC-NBS-LRR proteins conferring resistance to specific isolates of *P. parasitica*, both function in the absence of either EDS1 or NDR1 (11, 96). Furthermore, double eds1/ndr1 mutations do not affect RPP13 and only moderately suppress RPP8. This provides evidence that some CC-NBS-LRR proteins can transduce a defense signal through at least a third independent pathway. The R genes RPW8.1 and RPW8.2, which confer resistance to numerous powdery mildew isolates, encode coiled-coil-type proteins without NBS and LRR regions (169). These proteins also require EDS1 for their function, but not NDR1. This finding suggests that there may be an NBS-LRR protein in this pathway that ties the RPW8 proteins to the EDS1-dependent signaling pathway. Therefore, at least some R genes defy simple pathway classification schemes.

It has long been recognized that the hormone-like substance salicylic acid (SA) is required for local and systemic acquired resistance (SAR) (36, 94, 166). SA levels increase in tobacco and Arabidopsis at infection sites during compatible and incompatible interactions (127). Experiments using tobacco and Arabidopsis plants engineered to degrade SA subsequent to infection (NahG plants) provided evidence that SAR as well as local basal resistance and local resistance signaled through some *R* genes are compromised in the absence of SA accumulation (23, 48, 84) (but see below). Similarly, the Arabidopsis *eds5* and *eds16* mutants that are deficient in defense-associated SA accumulation are compromised in some *R*-gene pathways as well as SAR and basal resistance (29, 105, 167). Exogenous application

of SA or SA analogs induces SAR and restores resistance in numerous mutants compromised in signaling steps upstream of SA production (14, 108, 156, 162).

A recent study by Wildermuth et al. (167) suggested that the main route of defense-associated SA production in Arabidopsis involves chloroplast-localized isochorismate synthase 1 (ICS1) encoded by ICS1/EDS16/SID2. Its substrate chorismate is provided by the shikimate pathway. Transport of SA from plastids to the cytoplasm may be facilitated by a putatively chloroplast-localized trans-membrane protein encoded by EDS5/SID (98, 105). An alternative route of SA production may involve the general phenylpropanoid pathway converting shikimate pathwayderived chorismate to the SA precursors Benzoyl-glucose or o-Coumaric acid (98 and references therein). However, the significance of ICS1/EDS16/SID2 for R gene-mediated and basal resistance (105, 167) rather suggests a minor role of phenylpropanoid pathway-derived SA for plant defenses (98). Major differences between global gene expression patterns in NahG plants and the *sid2* mutant suggest that NahG has pleiotropic effects beyond elimination of SA (52, 160). Future focus on mutations in ICS1/EDS16/SID2 and EDS5/SID1, which have more defined effects on SA metabolism, will greatly improve analyses of SA-dependent defense signaling events. Mutations in EDS1 or PAD4 strongly reduce SA accumulation, suggesting that they act upstream of this important defense signaling molecule. SA also drives increased expression of EDS1 and PAD4, leading to the idea that these proteins act in a positive feedback loop (see also below) (43, 71, 137).

SA perception appears to be modulated by phytochrome signaling (49). In Arabidopsis, *PR* gene activation by SA as well as pathogen-induced HR are dependent on intact phytochrome signaling and light conditions. Growth of incompatible *P. syringae* pv. *tomato* is enhanced in a *phyA-phyB* double mutant. This, together with findings indicating mutual inhibition of SA signaling and jasmonic acid/ethylene signaling (see below) (33), suggests a high degree of crosstalk between regulatory pathways controlling different cellular processes.

Several direct targets of SA have been identified by SA-binding assays (18, 34, 35). A chloroplast-localized carbonic anhydrase (CA) proved to be required for *R*-gene function in tobacco (139). Silencing of *CA* gene expression suppressed *Pto*-mediated HR in tobacco leaves. Along with other SA binding proteins, CA exhibits antioxidant activity and may affect defense signaling by controlling levels of reactive oxygen species (ROI) produced in the oxidative burst.

The oxidative burst is one of the earliest physiological responses during hostpathogen interactions. The triggering of disease-resistance responses in cell cultures results in ROI production within minutes to several hours (66, 88, 112). The primary product of this oxidative burst appears to be superoxide, which dismutates to hydrogen peroxide. These ROI may be directly toxic to invading microorganisms and may contribute to structural reinforcement of the plant cell wall. In addition, a role in defense signaling has been proposed for the superoxide radical (66, 67). It has been recently demonstrated that the majority of ROI generated during the oxidative burst originates from a plant equivalent of the NADPH oxidase complex from mammalian neutrophils (152, 153). Activation of the oxidative burst is dependent on early changes in fluxes of ions such as calcium (12, 66, 179). In addition, Calmodulin family members and Calmodulin-like domain protein kinases (CDPKs) have been implicated in regulation of the oxidative burst and other defense responses (77, 123, 124). Furthermore, activation of the oxidative burst appears to involve heterotrimeric and small G proteins (75, 129, 142).

Several MAP kinases (MAPKs) are activated within minutes in cell cultures by elicitors and, in particular, by several Avr/R interactions (89, 125). This MAPK activity increase cannot be inhibited by diphenylene iodonium (DPI) and appears therefore to be independent or upstream of ROI production. Building on previously published analyses (see below), a recent dissection of a signaling cascade triggered by the elicitor flg22 identified MEKK1, MKK4a/5a, and MPK3/6 as MAPKKK, MAPKK, and MAPK components of a defense-associated MAPK module in Arabidopsis (3). This module appears to stimulate immediate early flg22 responsive expression of a WRKY-type transcription factor (see below). Transient overexpression of MKK4a, MKK5a or a constitutively active MEKK1 results in enhanced resistance to virulent *P. syringae* and *Botrytis cinerea*. The tobacco orthologs of MKK4/5 and MPK3/6, NtMEK2 and WIPK/SIPK, respectively, appear to relay *avr-R* gene and elicitin-triggered signals (125, 171, 173, 174, 176).

The MAPKs, SIPK, and WIPK at least partially mediate HR cell death (143); (175). Virus-induced gene silencing of SIPK, WIPK, and the MAPKK NtMEK2 attenuates *N* gene-mediated TMV resistance (70). Both SIPK and WIPK are functionally interconnected (70, 90). SIPK appears to be the primary target of NtMEK2, and NtMEK2-mediated activation of SIPK seems to trigger *WIPK* expression. Activity of the newly synthesized WIPK also requires NtMEK2. The tobacco MAP-KKK component NPK1 has been shown by virus-induced gene silencing to be required for function of the *R* genes *N*, *Bs2*, and *Rx*, but not *Pto*, *Cf4*, and *Rps2* (69).

Effects on *R* gene–mediated resistance in the *edr1* (<u>e</u>nhanced <u>d</u>isease <u>r</u>esistance 1) mutant, as well as effects on basal resistance in the *mpk4* mutant (47, 65, 111), provide further evidence for roles of MAPK modules in plant defense signaling. In contrast to MEKK1, MKK4a/5a, and MPK3/6 as well as their tobacco homologs, which act as positive regulators of defense responses, EDR1 (a MAPKKK) and MPK4 (a MAPK) appear to be involved in negative regulation. Both the *edr1* and *mpk4* mutants exhibit elevated resistance.

A growing body of evidence implicates nitric oxide (NO) in plant defense signaling. NO is a well-characterized messenger molecule controlling a multitude of physiological processes in animal cells including immune responses (165). NO is required for full *R* gene-triggered HR induction in soybean cells and Arabidopsis (24). Furthermore, NO as well as cyclic GMP (cGMP) and cyclic ADP-ribose (cADPR), which operate downstream of NO in animal cells, activate the defense-associated *PAL* (Phenylalanine ammonium lyase) and *PR1* genes in tobacco (24, 37). Whereas *PAL* and *PR1* activation can be mediated solely by NO (37), induction of HR requires synergistic action of both NO and ROI (24). In animal cells, other downstream targets of NO are cyclic nucleotide-gated channels (CNGCs). In the

Arabidopis *dnd1* mutant, one CNGC family member (CNGC2) is defective. This mutant is compromised in its ability to generate HRs in response to avirulent *P. syringae* (20). A second CNGC family member (CNGC4, HLM1) has been implicated in the control of HR and other defense responses (8). *hlm1* mutants exhibit constitutive basal defense and spontaneous HR development. However, it remains to be demonstrated that plant CNGS operate downstream of NO, as in animal systems.

Recently, in a brute force approach, the plant-inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (NOS) was cloned (16). This protein, which has all the hallmarks of an animal iNOS, is, in fact, the P protein of glycine decarboxylase (P-GDC). While genetic evidence for a requirement for P-GDC in disease-resistance responses is eagerly awaited, this biochemical breakthrough is important. It is particulary noteworthy that alleles of P-GDC in oats are the targets of a fungal toxin, and that an alternate allele is a resistance gene against a second fungus (103, 104, 174).

A positive feedback loop involving production of ROI, NO, and SA appears to play a central role in the activation of the defense program (24, 25, 37, 137; reviewed in 97, 165). All three messengers appear to act syngergistically in triggering HR and other defense responses. Pretreatment of soybean cells with physiological concentrations of SA potentiates ROI production and HR triggered by avirulent *P. syringae* (137). Similarly, NO potentiates ROI-triggered HR formation in soybean cells (24). Since both ROI and NO stimulate SA biosynthesis and SA potentiates ROI as well as NO-mediated responses, SA appears to act upstream and downstream from ROI and NO. Thus, *R* gene-dependent pathogen recognition appears to trigger a feedback loop amplifying the initial signal and leading to effective activation of downstream defense responses. In addition to ROI, NO, and SA, this feedback loop appears to involve more components that are shared by numerous *R*-gene pathways as well as the basal defense system, such as EDS1, NDR1, and PAD4 (43, 71, 134).

A FLOOD OF GENE ACTIVATION

Transcriptional changes in up to $\sim 20\%$ of the Arabidopsis genome are associated with *R* gene-mediated and basal pathogen resistance. Our knowledge about defense-associated gene expression is being revolutionized by large-scale gene-expression profiling technologies. Strikingly, global gene-expression patterns associated with compatible and incompatible local resistance proved to be quite similar (95, 147). A large number of defense-related genes are upregulated to a comparable extent in both defense situations. *R*-dependent responses, however, are more rapid and specific subsets of defense genes are induced to higher amplitudes. For instance, numerous genes respond in a similar manner to both virulent and avirulent isolates of *P. parasitica* in Arabidopsis. However, some 30 genes were found to be more intensely upregulated during the respective incompatible interaction (95).

Faster and steeper temporal activation of individual *PR* genes during incompatible interactions, as compared to compatible interactions, was historically observed in various systems (61, 140). Simply, *R*-dependent responses appear more efficient than the basal defense pathways operating during compatible interactions. Therefore, subtle differences in the timing and amplitudes of transcriptional activation, rather than profound qualitative differences in global expression patterns, may account for the effective *R*-mediated response. Genes exhibiting faster and more intense upregulation following *R*-dependent signaling may play important roles in disease resistance. Large sequence-indexed populations of Arabidopsis T-DNA mutants (132) will allow systematic testing of such candidate genes for roles in disease resistance. Tao et al. (147) proposed a simple quantitative model with a saturating response curve that approximates the overall behavior of the local defense system. This model (Figure 3) postulates a mechanism common to both *R*-gene and basal defense pathways which converts signal input to gene expression output in a quantitatively determined manner.

GLOBALIZATION OF DEFENSE REGULATION

A key element in controlling SA-mediated gene expression changes is NPR1. For example, expression of essentially all the genes demonstrated by Maleck et al. (95) to be upregulated along with SAR activation (represented by 132 ESTs) is affected in the npr1 mutant nim1-1. Although NPR1 protein is transported into the nucleus in response to SAR induction, and its nuclear localization is required for SAR-induced PR gene activation (78), NPR1 itself probably does not act as a transcription factor. However, there is ample evidence for direct physical interactions between NPR1 and members of the TGA subfamily of bZIP transcription factors (TGA-bZIPs) (44, 76). Two functionally relevant TGA-bZIP binding motifs (with a TGACG core motif) are required for PR1 activation by treatment with the SA-analog 2,6dichloroisonicotinic acid (INA) (86). One of these motifs, LS7, acts as an activator element, whereas the second one, LS5, appears to function as a weak silencer element. In vitro binding of one TGA-bZIP family member, TGA2, to both LS7 and LS5 was shown to be enhanced in the presence of NPR1 (28). Thus, NPR1 appears to alter the activity of transcription factors rather than directly controlling expression levels of target genes.

In addition to TGA-bZIPs, other transcription factor families seem to be involved in defense gene activation. Members of the large plant-specific family of WRKY transcription factors (41) appear to act upstream and downstream of NPR1 in defense signaling. *NPR1* expression has been demonstrated to be controlled by WRKY factors (172). Mutation of WRKY binding sites in the *NPR1* regulatory region leads to a reduction of basal resistance. A role of WRKY factors downstream of NPR1 in SAR gene activation is strongly supported by the significant enrichment of their recognition site in SAR gene promoters (95). A putative WRKY binding site within the *PR1* promoter (LS4) acts as a strong repressor element (86). At least one member of the WRKY family can act as a transcriptional repressor



signal conversion

A model to explain the quantitative nature of defense signaling. As pro-Figure 3 posed by Tao et al. (147), molecular recognition of pathogens by R proteins or (yet unknown) components of the basal defense system generates signal input for a general conversion mechanism. This signal conversion mechanism is common to both *R*-dependent and basal defense pathways and converts signal input to gene-expression output in a quantitatively determined manner. The characteristics of this mechanism are represented by the saturation curve. R-independent pathogen recognition generates an input signal of low intensity resulting in a weak output signal. R gene-mediated pathogen recognition generates much stronger input signals resulting in high output intensities. The output intensity determines the activity levels of target genes. As a result, *R*-gene pathways activate more rapidly and intensely target gene expression. This regulatory mechanism most likely involves NDR1, EDS1, and PAD4 as well as other signaling components that contribute to both R gene-mediated and basal resistance in a quantitative manner, such as additional components of the ROI/SA amplification loop. Modified after Reference 147.

(122). Thus, a general mechanism of NPR1-mediated SAR gene activation may involve derepression by WRKY factors combined with activation by other gene regulators such as TGA-bZIPs or ERFs (ethylene response factors) or additional members of the WRKY family.

Several large-scale expression profiling studies revealed that a multitude of transcription factor genes are expressed in response to a wide variety of different defense-related stimuli (17, 38, 95, 102). Members of the large ERF/AP2-domain, bZIP, homeodomain, Myb, WRKY families as well as other zinc-finger factors were found to be upregulated during multiple incompatible and compatible interactions. Elevated expression of such potential regulator genes in certain defense situations by no means proves a role of the respective factors in these processes. Their upregulation may be an indirect consequence of the activation of the defense program rather than its cause. However, several independent studies indicated that products of transcription factor genes showing defense-associated upregulation can specifically bind to promoters of *PR*- or other defense-related genes and may participate in their regulation (42, 81, 126, 177).

Transcription factor activity can be linked to upstream signaling events by phosphorylation (74). Both ERF and WRKY transcription factors may be targeted by defense-activated protein-kinases (3, 177). Three ERFs, Pti4, -5, and -6, physically interact with the tomato R protein Pto, a serine/threonine protein-kinase that mediates recognition of strains of *P. syringae*. The flg22-stimulated MAPK module (MEKK1, MKK4a/5a, and MPK3/6; see above) triggers mediate early expression of *WRKY29*. This gene, like other defense-associated WRKY genes (21, 42), appears itself to be regulated by WRKY factors (3), suggesting that MAPK-mediated phosphorylation of early operating WRKY factors may be an important step in flg22-triggered *WRKY29* activation.

In most cases, clear genetic evidence for contributions of defined transcription factors for disease resistance is still lacking. However, recently a novel type of R protein has been identified that may partly act as a transcription factor. The Arabidopsis RRS1-R gene, which confers resistance to strains of Ralstonia solanacearum expressing POP2a, encodes a TIR-NB-LRR type protein with a C-terminal nuclear localization signal (NLS) and a WRKY DNA-binding domain (27). Certain mutant versions of RRS1-R fail to confer resistance to the tested strains of *R. solanacearum*. Whether RRS1-R, in fact, directly regulates gene expression needs to be determined but if this were proven, RRS1-R would constitute an extremely condensed signaling pathway, combining an R-protein type receptor unit with a WRKY-type transcription factor unit in one protein. The fusion of key domains of separate pathway components into a single polypeptide chain in RRS1-R is a possible manifestation of the "Rosetta Stone principle" (83). The chimeric nature of RRS1-R may hint at a general hierarchy of defense pathways, where signals are relayed from R-protein type receptors to WRKY-type (or other) transcription factors, resulting in output of an appropriate gene expression.

Despite the availability of large populations of sequence indexed T-DNA or transposon insertion mutations, reverse genetics approaches have so far not produced much evidence for the involvement of distinct transcription factors in disease resistance. One reason may be that those factor types implicated in defense regulation by circumstantial evidence, such as WRKY, ERF/AP2-domain, bZIP and Myb factors, are encoded by unusually large gene families in Arabidopsis (120). Members of these families may have overlapping functions and disruption of individual candidates may not sufficiently affect gene expression and physiological responses to produce a detectable defense-related phenotype. Combination of single insertion mutations in double, triple, or higher-order mutants may lead to more comprehensive effects and clear phenotypes.

The wealth of gene-expression data generated using GeneChips, microarrays, and other RNA-profiling methods facilitated novel strategies for the discovery of transcription factors of the defense program. Several independent studies demonstrated the identification of highly conserved sequence motifs in promoters of coregulated genes (17, 63, 95). In addition to motifs already known to function as *cis*-elements, novel motifs have been identified (60). In some cases, function of these novel motifs has been proven (60). Such conserved promoter motifs can be used to clone their potential cognate transcription factors by common screening procedures, such as the yeast one-hybrid system or southwestern screens. Candidate factors can then be tested for their in vivo roles using Arabidopsis insertion mutants. This strategy may have some advantages compared with conventional reverse genetics approaches, as potential molecular and macroscopic phenotypes of the tested insertion mutants are already known.

JASMONIC AND ETHYLENE-DEPENDENT DEFENSE SIGNALING PATHWAYS

Recent studies unmasked SA-independent disease resistance mechanisms in Arabidopsis that are mediated by jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene (ET) (reviewed in 33; 114, 119). One SA-independent resistance pathway, termed ISR for induced systemic resistance, is triggered by biocontrol bacteria applied to Arabidopsis roots (115). Recent epistasis analysis demonstrated that this resistance is dependent on the ET and JA response pathways (116).

ET and JA regulate expression of genes encoding antimicrobial peptides such as thionin and defensin (40). Thionin gene expression is upregulated by methyl jasmonate and is down-regulated by the ET-insensitive ein2 and JA-insensitive *jar1* mutations. Similarly, *pdf1-2* (plant defensin1-2) expression is induced by JA and necrotrophic pathogen infection (109, 110). This induction is eliminated in the JA-insensitive coil mutant and ein2. Neither thionin nor pdf1-2 gene activation is affected by NahG expression, suggesting SA independence. However, epistasis analysis has revealed evidence for antagonism and crosstalk between the SA-dependent and the JA/ET-dependent defense pathways (reviewed in 33). ISR requires NPR1, which also operates downstream from SA (116). Furthermore, constitutive broad-spectrum disease resistance in the cpr5 and cpr6 mutants requires components from both SA- and ET/JA-dependent pathways (19). Constitutive resistance in *cpr5* and *cpr6* is partially affected by the *npr1* mutation and completely abolished by the *eds5* mutation that suppresses SA accumulation. Hence, SA-dependent but NPR1-independent pathways contribute to cpr5/6-mediated resistance. These pathways are, however, suppressed by the ein2 and jar1 mutations in *cpr/npr1/ein2* and *cpr/npr1/jar1* triple mutants. Importantly, a similar pathway appears to be operating in RPS2-mediated resistance against the bacterial pathogen P. syringae (19). Although RPS2 function is not affected by the npr1, ein2, and jar1 single mutations, it is compromised by the combined npr1/ein2, npr1/jar1, and npr1/ein2/jar1 mutations. Since RPS2 function is reduced to the same level in the SA-deficient eds5 single mutant, two SA-dependent pathways must be required for function of this R gene: one NPR1 dependent and one EIN2/JAR1-dependent.

The existence of crosstalk between SA and JA/ET pathways is also strongly supported by global gene expression–profiling approaches. Two independent studies (52, 130) identified sets of genes that are subject to antagonistic control by these pathways. Schenk et al. (130) also identified groups of genes that are coinduced or corepressed by SA, methyl jasmonate (MJ), or ET. Such genes that respond to more than one of the hormones tested may act downstream of important signal convergence points and will be valuable tools to dissect defense signaling networks in the future.

Glazebrook et al. (52) used global gene-expression profiling to predict in more detail the topology of the SA/JA/ET signaling network and to assign defense-signaling mutations either to SA-dependent or JA/ET-dependent pathways. Expression profiles suggested that *eds3* affects SA signaling, whereas *eds8* and *pad1* affect JA signaling. None of these mutations had been assigned to any of these pathways before. These predictions were experimentally confirmed. In addition, the existence of an as-yet unknown pathway operating downstream of pathogen recognition, which is SA and JA/ET independent but eventually converges with JA/ET-mediated signals, was postulated. This study impressively demonstrates that large-scale gene-expression profiling can effectively be used to make predictions on the topology of defense signaling networks.

Generally, the picture emerges that JA/ET-dependent pathways induce defense mechanisms protecting plants against necrotrophic pathogens, whereas ROI/SAmediated responses are effective against biotrophic pathogens (97). Complex crosstalk between both signaling routes allows the plants to fine-tune their defense program and to respond to each type of pathogen with the most effective mixture of individual defense measures.

CONCLUSIONS: MIND THE TRIGGER

Profiling of global Avr/R gene-triggered gene-expression responses points to a certain degree of constitutive activity of R-gene pathways (102; T. Eulgem & J.L. Dangl, manuscript in preparation). In the absence of infection, mutants disrupted in distinct R pathways display reduced (or elevated) expression of defined gene sets. This result supports the notion that R activation is tightly controlled. Ectopic R expression can activate defense pathways in the absence of pathogen (32, 99, 107). After pathogen recognition, repression of these pathways is completely removed and they operate with maximal capacity, fully activating (or repressing) their target genes. The outcomes are production of potentially toxic secondary metabolites, programmed cell death, and the creation of a locally inhospitable environment for the pathogen. The consequences of R misexpression and misfiring, up to and including ectopic cell death, likely necessitate negative regulation of R-protein activation. This molecular regulatory concept is reflected back to the whole organism and ecological evolutionary level. A naturally occurring *rpm1* null allele is maintained in natural populations over very long time frames, suggestive of balanced polymorphism (56, 141), and the mere presence of functional RPM1 in an otherwise isogenic background leads to an astounding 9% loss in seed production (149).

In the past few years, we have moved from understanding the basic genetic concepts behind R gene-mediated plant disease resistance into an exploration of how these processes are regulated at the molecular and biochemical levels. To quote U.S. Defense Secretary Donald Rumsfeld: "While there are more knowns now, there are still known unknowns and probably some unknown unknowns as well."

R-protein activation may be negatively regulated by intramolecular mechanisms, although how this is achieved and how they are activated will require more examples and more detailed biochemistry and structural biology. The role of accessory and partner proteins in R activation is just at its beginning, and will require both clever forward and reverse genetics approaches combined with proteomebased solutions. The guard hypothesis requires further testing, particularly as it relates to families of closely related *R* alleles. Signaling pathways leading from activated R proteins are being chipped away, and emerging concepts suggest that the resistant state is achieved by breaching quantitative activation thresholds, possibly driven by a central SA-driven positive feedback loop.

Among the many outstanding questions are: How do activated R proteins utilize components of basal resistance in order to amplify signal output? How do R proteins feed into the core feedback loop machinery to achieve this? Could it be that activated R proteins only associate transiently with their downstream targets? Answers to these questions will ultimately shape our understanding of how the plant immune system functions and evolves, and may one day lead us to the development of controlled, broad-spectrum resistant crops without the deleterious fitness costs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Ken Shirasu and Dr. David Baulcombe, Sainsbury Laboratory, Norwich, UK; Dr. Paul Schulze-Lefert, Max-Planck-Institute; Dr. Brian Staskawicz, UC Berkeley; Dr. Roger Innes, Indiana University; and our colleagues in the Dangl lab for permission to cite unpublished data. This work was supported by grants to J.L.D. from the National Institute of Health, the NSF-Arabidopsis 2010 project, the U.S. Department of Energy and the U.S. Department of Agriculture, National Research Initiative. T.E. received postdoctoral fellowships from the Deutsche Forschungs-Gemeinschaft (#EU 51/1) and Max-Planck-Gesellschaft.

The Annual Review of Genetics is online at http://genet.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

 Aarts N, Metz M, Holub E, Staskawicz BJ, Daniels MJ, Parker JE. 1998. Different requirements for EDS1 and NDR1 by disease resistance genes define at least two R gene mediated signalling pathways in Arabidopsis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:10306–11

2. Aravind L, Dixit VM, Koonin EV. 1999.

The domains of death: evolution of the apoptosis machinery. *Trends Biochem*. 24: 47–53

- Asai T, Tena G, Plotnikova J, Willmann MR, Chiu WL, et al. 2002. MAP kinase signalling cascade in Arabidopsis innate immunity. *Nature* 415:977–83
- Austin MJ, Muskett PJ, Kahn K, Feys BJ, Jones JDG, Parker JE. 2002. Regulatory role of *SGT1* in early *R*-mediated plant defenses. *Science* 295:2077–80
- Axtell MJ, Staskawicz BJ. 2003. Initiation of *RPS2*-specified disease resistance in *Arabidopsis* is coupled to the AvrRpt2-directed elimination of RIN4. *Cell* 112:369–77
- Ayliffe MA, Frost DV, Finnegan EJ, Lawrence GJ, Anderson PA, Ellis JG. 1999. Analysis of alternative transcripts of the flax L6 rust resistance gene. *Plant* J. 17:287–92
- Azevedo C, Sadanandom A, Kitigawa K, Freialdenhoven A, Shirasu K, Schulze-Lefert P. 2002. The RAR1 interactor SGT1 is an essential component of *R*gene triggered disease resistance. *Science* 295:2073–76
- Balague C, Lin B, Alcon C, Flottes G, Malmstrom S, et al. 2003. HLM1, an essential signaling component in the hypersensitive response, is a member of the cyclic nucleotide-gated channel ion channel family. *Plant Cell* 15:365–79
- Banerjee D, Zhang D, Bent A. 2001. The LRR domain can determine effective interaction between *RPS2* and other host factors in Arabidopsis *RPS2*- mediated disease resistance. *Genetics* 158:439– 50
- Bendahmane A, Farnham G, Moffett P, Baulcombe DC. 2002. Constitutive gainof-function mutants in a nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeat protein encoded at the Rx locus of potato. *Plant J.* 32:195–204
- Bittner-Eddy PD, Beynon JL. 2001. The Arabidopsis downy mildew resistance gene, *RPP13-Nd*, functions inde-

pendently of *NDR1* and *EDS1* and does not require the accumulation of salicylic acid. *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact.* 14:416–21

- Blume B, Nürnberger T, Nass N, Scheel D. 2000. Receptor-mediated increase in cytoplasmic free calcium required for activation of pathogen defense in parsley. *Plant Cell* 12:1425–40
- 13. Boyes DC, Nam J, Dangl JL. 1998. The Arabidopsis thaliana RPM1 disease resistance gene product is a peripheral plasma membrane protein that is degraded coincident with the hypersensitive response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:15849–54
- 14. Century KS, Holub EB, Staskawicz BJ. 1995. NDR1, a locus of Arabidopsis thaliana that is required for disease resistance to both a bacterial and a fungal pathogen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 92:6597–601
- Century KS, Shapiro AD, Repetti PP, Dahlbeck D, Holub E, Staskawicz BJ. 1997. NDR1, a pathogen-induced component required for Arabidopsis disease resistance. *Science* 278:1963–65
- 16. Chandok MR, Ytterberg AJ, van Wijk KJ, Klessig DF. 2003. The pathogeninducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) in plants is a variant of the P protein of the glycine decarboxylase complex. *Cell* 113:469–82
- Chen W, Provart N, Glazebrook J, Katagiri F, Chang H-S, et al. 2002. Expression profile matrices of Arabidopsis transcription factor genes predict their putative functions in response to environmental stresses. *Plant Cell* 14:559–74
- Chen Z, Klessig D. 1991. Identification of a soluble salicylic acid-binding protein that may function in signal transduction in the plant disease-resistance response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88:8179–83
- Clarke JD, Volko SM, Ledford H, Ausubel FM, Dong X. 2000. Roles of salicylic acid, jasmonic acid, and ethylene in *cpr*-induced resistance in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 12:2175–90

- Clough SJ, Fengler KA, Yu IC, Lippok B, Smith RK Jr, Bent AF. 2000. The Arabidopsis dnd1 "defense, no death" gene encodes a mutated cyclic nucleotidegated ion channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 97:9323–28
- Cormack RS, Eulgem T, Rushton PJ, Kochner P, Hahlbrock K, Somssich IE. 2002. Leucine zipper-containing WRKY proteins widen the spectrum of immediate early elicitor-induced WRKY transcription factors in parsley. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1576:92–100
- Dangl JL, Jones JDG. 2001. Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. *Nature* 411:826– 33
- Delaney T, Uknes S, Vernooij B, Friedrich L, Weymann K, et al. 1994. A central role of salicylic acid in plant disease resistance. *Science* 266:1247–50
- Delledonne M, Xia Y, Dixon RA, Lamb CJ. 1998. Nitric oxide functions as a signal in plant disease resistance. *Nature* 394:585–88
- Delledonne M, Zeier J, Marocco A, Lamb CJ. 2001. Signal interactions between nitric oxide and reactive oxygen intermediates in the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 98:13454–59
- 26. Deslandes L, Olivier J, Peeters N, Feng DX, Khounlotham M, et al. 2003. Physical interaction between RRS1-R, a protein conferring resistance to bacterial wilt, and PopP2, a type III effector targeted to the plant nucleus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 100(13):8024–29
- 27. Deslandes L, Olivier J, Theulieres F, Hirsch J, Feng DX, et al. 2002. Resistance to *Ralstonia solanacearum* in *Arabidopsis thaliana* is conferred by the recessive *RRS1*-R gene, a member of a novel family of resistance genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99:2404–9
- Despres C, DeLong C, Glaze S, Liu E, Fobert PR. 2000. The Arabidopsis NPR1/NIM1 protein enhances the DNA

binding activity of a subgroup of the TGA family of bZIP transcription factors. *Plant Cell* 12:279–90

- Dewdney J, Reuber TL, Wildermuth MC, Devoto A, Cui J, et al. 2000. Three unique mutants of Arabidopsis identify eds loci required for limiting growth of a biotrophic fungal pathogen. *Plant J.* 24: 205–8
- DeWit PJGM. 1995. Fungal avirulence genes and plant resistance genes: unraveling the molecular basis of gene for gene interactions. *Adv. Bot. Res.* 21:148– 85
- Dinesh-Kumar SP, Baker BJ. 2000. Alternatively spliced N resistance gene transcripts: their possible role in *Tobacco mosaic virus* resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 97:1908–13
- Dinesh-Kumar SP, Tham W-H, Baker BJ. 2000. Structure-function analysis of the *Tobacco mosaic virus* resistance gene N. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 97:14789– 94
- Dong X. 1998. SA, JA, ethylene, and disease resistance in plants. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 1:316–23
- Du H, Klessig DF. 1997. Identification of a soluble high-affinity salicylic acidbinding protein in tobacco. *Plant Physiol*. 113:1319–27
- Durner J, Klessig DF. 1995. Inhibition of ascorbate peroxidase by salicylic acid and 2,6-dichloroisonicotinic acid, two inducers of plant defense responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:11312–16
- Durner J, Shah J, Klessig D. 1997. Salicylic acid and disease resistance in plants. *Trends Plant Sci.* 2:266–74
- Durner J, Wendehenne D, Klessig DF. 1998. Defense gene induction in tobacco by nitric oxide, cyclic GMP and cyclic ADP ribose. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:10328–33
- Durrant WE, Rowland O, Piedras P, Hammond-Kossak KE, Jones JDG. 2000. cDNA-AFLP reveales a striking overlap in the race-specific resistance and wound

response expression profiles. *Plant Cell* 12:963–77

- Ellis J, Dodds P, Pryor T. 2000. Structure, function, and evolution of plant disease resistance genes. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 3:278–84
- Epple P, Vignutelli A, Apel K, Bohlmann H. 1998. Differential induction of the Arabidopsis thaliana Thi2.1 gene by Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. matthiolae. Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact. 11:523–29
- Eulgem T, Rushton PJ, Robatzek S, Somssich IE. 2000. The WRKY superfamily of plant transcription factors. *Trends Plant Sci.* 5:199–206
- 42. Eulgem T, Rushton PJ, Schmelzer E, Hahlbrock K, Somssich IE. 1999. Early nuclear events in plant defence signalling: rapid activation by WRKY transcription factors. *EMBO J.* 18:4689–99
- 43. Falk A, Feys B, Frost LN, Jones JDG, Daniels MJ, Parker JE. 1999. *EDS1*, an essential component of *R* gene-mediated disease resistance in Arabidopsis has homology to eukaryotic lipases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96:3292–97
- 44. Fan W, Dong X. 2002. In vivo interaction between NPR1 and transcription factor TGA2 leads to salicylic acid-mediated gene activation in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 14:1377–89
- 45. Feng S, Ma L, Wang X, Xie D, Dinesh-Kumar SP, et al. 2003. The COP9 signalosome interacts physically with SCF COI1 and modulates jasmonate responses. *Plant Cell* 15:1083–94
- Flor HH. 1955. Host-parasite interactions in flax—its genetics and other implications. *Phytopathology* 45:680–85
- 47. Frye CA, Tang D, Innes RW. 2001. Negative regulation of defense responses in plants by a conserved MAPKK kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98:373–78
- Gaffney T, Friedrich L, Vernooij B, Negrotto D, Nye G, et al. 1993. Requirement for salicylic acid for the induction of systemic acquired resistance. *Science* 261:754–56

- Genoud T, Buchala AJ, Chua NH, Métraux JP. 2002. Phytochrome signalling modulates the SA-perceptive pathway in Arabidopsis. *Plant J.* 31:87–95
- Gilbert GS. 2002. Evolutionary ecology of plant diseases in natural ecosystems. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* 40:13–43
- Glazebrook J. 2001. Genes controlling expression of defense responses in Arabidopsis—2001 status. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 4:301–8
- 52. Glazebrook J, Chen W, Estes B, Chang HS, Nawrath C, et al. 2003. Topology of the network integrating salicylate and jasmonate signal transduction derived from global expression phenotyping. *Plant J*. 34:217–28
- Glazebrook J, Rogers EE, Ausubel FM. 1997. Use of Arabidopsis for genetic dissection of plant defense responses. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 31:547–69
- 54. Goff SA, Ricke D, Lan TH, Presting G, Wang R, et al. 2002. A draft sequence of the rice genome (*Oryza sativa* L. ssp. *japonica*). *Science* 296:92–100
- Gomez-Gomez L, Boller T. 2002. Flagellin perception: a paradigm for innate immunity. *Trends Plant Sci.* 7:251–56
- 56. Grant MR, McDowell JM, Sharpe AG, de Torres Zabala M, Lydiate DJ, Dangl JL. 1998. Independent deletions of a pathogen-resistance gene in *Brassica* and *Arabidopsis*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:15843–48
- Gray WM, Estelle I. 2000. Function of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in auxin response. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 25:133– 38
- Gu Y-Q, Yang C, Thara VK, Zhou J, Martin GB. 2000. *Pti4* is induced by ethylene and salicylic acid, and its product is phosphorylated by the Pto kinase. *Plant Cell* 12:771–85
- Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones JDG. 1996. Plant disease resistance genes. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 48:575– 607
- 60. Harmer SL, Hogenesch JB, Straume M,

Chang H-S, Han B, et al. 2000. Orchestrated transcription of key pathways in *Arabidopsis* by the circadian clock. *Science* 290:2110–13

- Hedrick SA, Bell JN, Boller T, Lamb CJ. 1988. Chitinase cDNA cloning and mRNA induction by fingal elicitor, wounding, and infection. *Plant Physiol.* 86:0182–86
- Hohfeld J, Cyr DM, Patterson C. 2001. From the cradle to the grave: molecular chaperones that may choose between folding and degradation. *EMBO Rep.* 2:885– 90
- Hughes JD, Estep PW, Tavazoie S, Church GM. 2000. Computational identification of *cis*-regulatory elements associated with groups of functionally related genes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Mol. Biol. 296:1205–14
- 64. Hwang C-F, Bhakta AV, Truesdell GM, Pudlo W, Williamson VM. 2000. Evidence for a role of the N terminus and leucine-rich repeat region of the *Mi* gene product in regulation of localized cell death. *Plant Cell* 12:1319–29
- Innes RW. 2001. Mapping out the roles of MAP kinases in plant defense. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6:392–94
- 66. Jabs T, Colling C, Tschöpe M, Hahlbrock K, Scheel D. 1997. Elicitor-stimulated ion fluxes and reactive oxygen species from the oxidative burst signal defense gene activation and phytoalexin synthesis in parsley. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:4800–5
- Jabs T, Dietrich RA, Dangl JL. 1996. Initiation of runaway cell death in an Arabidopsis mutant by extracellular superoxide. *Science* 273:1853–56
- Jia Y, McAdams SA, Bryan GT, Hershey HP, Valent B. 2000. Direct interaction of resistance gene and avirulence gene products confers rice blast resistance. *EMBO* J. 19:4004–14
- Jin H, Axtell MJ, Dahlbeck D, Ekwenna O, Zhang S, et al. 2002. NPK1, an MEKK1-like mitogen-activated protein

kinase kinase kinase, regulates innate immunity and development in plants. *Dev. Cell* 3:291–97

- Jin H, Liu Y, Yang KY, Kim CY, Baker B, Zhang S. 2003. Function of a mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in N gene-mediated resistance in tobacco. *Plant J.* 33:719–31
- Jirage D, Tootle TL, Reuber TL, Frost LN, Feys BJ, et al. 1999. Arabidopsis thaliana PAD4 encodes a lipase-like gene that is important for salicylic acid signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96:135883–88
- Jones DA, Jones JDG. 1996. The roles of leucine-rich repeats in plant defences. *Adv. Bot. Res. Adv. Plant Pathol.* 24:90– 167
- Jones DA, Thomas CM, Hammond-Kosack KE, Balint-Kurti PJ, Jones JDG. 1994. Isolation of the tomato *Cf-9* gene for resistance to *Cladosporium fulvum* by transposon tagging. *Science* 266:789–93
- Karin M, Hunter T. 1995. Transcriptional control by protein phosphorylation: signal transmission from the cell surface to the nucleus. *Curr. Biol.* 5:747–57
- Kawasaki T, Henmi K, Ono E, Hataleuama S, Iwano M, et al. 1999. The small GTP-binding protein Rac is a regulator of cell death in plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 96:10922–26
- 76. Kim H-S, Delaney TP. 2002. Overexpression of *TGA5*, which encodes a bZIP transcription factor that interacts with NIM1/NPR1, confers SAR-independent resistance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, to *Peronospora parasitica*. *Plant J.* 32:151–64
- 77. Kim MC, Panstruga R, Elliott C, Muller J, Devoto A, et al. 2002. Calmodulin interacts with MLO protein to regulate defence against mildew in barley. *Nature* 416:447– 51
- Kinkema M, Fan W, Dong X. 2000. Nuclear localization of NRP1 is required for activation of *PR* gene expression. *Plant Cell* 12:2339–50
- 79. Kjemtrup S, Nimchuk Z, Dangl JL.

2000. Effector proteins of phytopathogenic bacteria: bifunctional signals in virulence and host recognition. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 3:73–78

- Kobe B, Kajava AV. 2001. The leucinerich repeat as a protein recognition motif. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* 11:725–32
- Korfhage U, Trezzini GF, Meier I, Hahlbrock K, Somssich IE. 1994. Plant homeodomain protein involved in transcriptional regulation of a pathogen defense-related gene. *Plant Cell* 6:695– 708
- Kruger J, Thomas CM, Golstein C, Dixon MS, Smoker M, et al. 2002. A tomato cysteine protease required for *Cf-2-* dependent disease resistance and suppression of autonecrosis. *Science* 296:744–47
- 83. Lahaye T. 2002. The Arabidopsis RRS1-R disease resistance gene—uncovering the plant's nucleus as the new battlefield of plant defense? *Trends Plant Sci.* 7: 425–27
- Lawton K, Weymann K, Friedrich L, Vernooij B, Uknes S, Ryals J. 1995. Systemic acquired resistance in *Arabidopsis* requires salicylic acid but not ethylene. *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact.* 8:863–70
- Leach JE, White FF. 1996. Bacterial avirulence genes. Annu. Rev. Phyopathol. 34:153–79
- Lebel E, Heifetz P, Thorne L, Uknes S, Ryals J, Ward E. 1998. Functional analysis of regulatory sequences controlling PR-1 gene expression in Arabidopsis. *Plant J.* 16:223–33
- 87. Leister RT, Katagiri F. 2000. A resistance gene product of the nucleotide binding site-leucine rich repeats class can form a complex with bacterial avirulence proteins in vitro. *Plant J.* 22:345–54
- Levine A, Tenhaken R, Dixon R, Lamb CJ. 1994. H2O2 from the oxidative burst orchestrates the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response. *Cell* 79:583–93
- Ligterink W, Kroj T, zur Nieden U, Hirt H, Scheel D. 1997. Receptor-mediated activation of a MAP kinase in pathogen

defense of plants. *Science* 276:2054-57

- Liu Y, Jin H, Yang KY, Kim CY, Baker B, Zhang S. 2003. Interaction between two mitogen-activated protein kinases during tobacco defense signaling. *Plant J*. 34:149–60
- 91. Liu Y, Schift M, Serino G, Deng X-W, Dinesh-Kumar SP. 2002. Role of SCF ubiquitin-ligase and the COP9 signalosome in the *N*-mediated resistance response to tobacco mosaic virus. *Plant Cell* 14:1483–96
- 92. Mackey D, Belkhadir Y, Alonso JM, Ecker JR, Dangl JL. 2003. Arabidopsis RIN4 is a target of the type III virulence effector AvrRpt2 and modulates RPS2mediated resistance. *Cell* 112:379–89
- Mackey D, Holt III BF, Wiig A, Dangl JL. 2002. RIN4 interacts with *Pseudomonas* syringae Type III effector molecules and is required for RPM1-mediated disease resistance in Arabidopsis. *Cell* 108:743–54
- 94. Malamy J, Carr JP, Klessig DF, Raskin I. 1990. Salicylic acid: a likely endogenous signal in the resistance response of tobacco to viral infection. *Science* 250:1002–4
- Maleck K, Levine A, Eulgem T, Morgan A, Schmid J, et al. 2000. The transcriptome of *Arabidopsis thaliana* during systemic acquired resistance. *Nat. Genet.* 26:403–10
- 96. McDowell JM, Cuzick A, Can C, Beynon J, Dangl JL, Holub EB. 2000. Downy mildew (*Peronospora parasitica*) resistance genes in Arabidopsis vary in functional requirements for NDR1, EDS1, NPR1, and salicylic acid accumulation. *Plant J.* 22:523–30
- McDowell JM, Dangl JL. 2000. Signal transduction in the plant innate immune response. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 25:79–82
- Métraux JP. 2002. Recent breakthroughs in the study of salicylic acid biosynthesis. *Trends Plant Sci.* 7:332–34
- 99. Mindrinos M, Katagiri F, Yu G-L, Ausubel FM. 1994. The A. thaliana

disease resistance gene *RPS2* encodes a protein containing a nucleotide-binding site and leucine-rich repeats. *Cell* 78: 1089–99

- 100. Moffett P, Farnham G, Peart J, Baulcombe DC. 2002. Interaction between domains of a plant NBS-LRR protein in disease resistance-related cell death. *EMBO* J. 21:4511–19
- 101. Muratani M, Tansey WP. 2003. How the ubiquitin-proteasome system controls transcription. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol.* 4:192–201
- 102. Mysore KS, Crasta OR, Tuori RP, Folkerts O, Swirsky PB, Martin GB. 2002. Comprehensive transcript polling of the PToand Prf-mediated host defense responses to infection by *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato. Plant J.* 32:299–316
- 103. Navarre DA, Wolpert TJ. 1995. Inhibition of the glycine decarboxylase multienzyme complex by the host-selective toxin victorin. *Plant Cell* 7:463–71
- 104. Navarre DA, Wolpert TJ. 1999. Victorin induction of an apoptotic/senescence-like response in oats. *Plant Cell* 11:237– 49
- 105. Nawrath C, Heck S, Parinthawong N, Metraux J-P. 2002. EDS5, an essential component of salicylic acid-dependent signaling for disease resistance in Arabidopsis, is a member of the MATE transporter family. *Plant Cell* 14:275–86
- 106. Nimchuk Z, Marois E, Kjemtrup S, Leister RT, Katagiri F, Dangl JL. 2000. Eukaryotic fatty acylation drives plasma membrane targeting and enhances function of several Type III effector proteins from *Pseudomonas syringae*. *Cell* 101: 353–63
- Oldroyd GED, Staskawicz BJ. 1998. Genetically engineered broad-spectrum disease resistance in tomato. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:10300–5
- 108. Parker JE, Holub EB, Frost LN, Falk A, Gunn ND, Daniels MJ. 1996. Characterization of *eds1*, a mutation in Arabidopsis suppressing resistance to *Peronospora*

parasitica specified by several different RPP genes. Plant Cell 8:2033-46

- 109. Penninckx IAMA, Eggermont K, Terras BPH, Thomma J, DeSamblanx GW, et al. 1996. Pathogen-induced systemic activation of a plant defensin gene in Arabidopsis follows a salicylic acid-independent pathway. *Plant Cell* 8:2309–23
- 110. Penninckx IAMA, Thomma BPHJ, Buchala A, Métraux J-P, Broekaert W. 1998. Concomitant activation of jasmonate and ethylene response pathways is required for induction of a plant defensin gene in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 10: 2103–13
- 111. Petersen M, Brodersen P, Naested H, Andreasson E, Lindhart U, et al. 2000. Arabidopsis map kinase 4 negatively regulates systemic acquired resistance. *Cell* 103:1111–20
- 112. Piedras P, Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones JDG. 1998. Rapid, Cf-9 and Avr9 dependent, production of active oxygen species in tobacco suspension cultures. *Mol. Plant-Microbe Interact.* 11:1155– 66
- 113. Piedras P, Rivas S, Dröge S, Hillmer S, Jones JDG. 2000. Functional, c-myc epitope tagged Cf-9 resistance gene products are plasma-membrane localized and glycosylated. *Plant J.* 21:529–36
- 114. Pieterse CMJ, Van Loon LC. 1999. Salicylic acid-independent plant defence pathways. *Trends Plant Sci.* 4:52–58
- 115. Pieterse CMJ, van Wees SCM, Hoffland E, van Pelt JA, van Loon LC. 1996. Systemic resistance in Arabidopsis induced by biocontrol bacteria is independent of salicylic acid accumulation and pathogenesis-related gene expression. *Plant Cell* 8:1225–37
- 116. Pieterse CMJ, van Wees SCM, van Pett JA, Knoester M, Laan R, et al. 1998. A novel signaling pathway controlling induced systemic resistance in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 10:1571–80
- Pratt WB, Toft DO. 2003. Regulation of signaling protein function and trafficking

by the hsp90/hsp70-based chaperone machinery. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 228:111–33

- 118. Rathjen JP, Chang JH, Staskawicz BJ, Michelmore RW. 1999. Constitutively active *Pto* induces a *Prf*-dependent hypersensitive response in the absence of *avrPto. EMBO J.* 18:3232–40
- 119. Reymond P, Farmer EE. 1998. Jasmonate and salicylate as global signals for defense gene expression. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 1:404–11
- 120. Riechmann JL, Heard J, Martin G, Reuber L, Jiang C-J, et al. 2000. Arabidopsis transcription factors: genome-wide comparative analysis among eukaryotes. Science 290:2105–10
- Ritter C, Dangl JL. 1996. Interference between two specific pathogen recognition events mediated by distinct plant disease resistance genes. *Plant Cell* 8:251–57
- 122. Robatzek S, Somssich IE. 2002. Targets of AtWRKY6 regulation during plant senescence and pathogen defense. *Genes Dev.* 16:1139–49
- 123. Romeis T, Ludwig AA, Martin R, Jones JDG. 2001. Calcium-dependent protein kinases play an essential role in a plant defence response. *EMBO J.* 20:5556–67
- 124. Romeis T, Piedras P, Jones JDG. 2000. Resistance gene-dependent activation of a calcium-dependent protein kinase in the plant defense response. *Plant Cell* 12: 803–15
- 125. Romeis T, Piedras P, Zhang S, Klessig DF, Hirt H, Jones JDG. 1999. Rapid, Avr9- and Cf-9-dependent activation of MAP kinases in tobacco cell cultures and leaves: convergence of resistance gene, elicitor, wound and salicylate responses. *Plant Cell* 11:273–87
- 126. Rushton PJ, Tovar Torres J, Parniske M, Wernert P, Hahlbrock K, Somssich IE. 1996. Interaction of elicitor-induced DNA-binding proteins with elicitor response elements in the promoters of parsley PR1 genes. *EMBO J*. 15:5690–700
- Ryals JL, Neuenschwander UH, Willits MC, Molina A, Steiner H-Y, Hunt MD.

1996. Systemic acquired resistance. *Plant Cell* 8:1809–19

- 128. Salmeron JM, Oldroyd GED, Rommens CMT, Scofield SR, Kim H-S, et al. 1996. Tomato *Prf* is a member of the leucinerich repeat class of plant disease resistance genes and lies embedded within the *Pto* kinase gene cluster. *Cell* 86:123– 33
- Scheel D. 1998. Resistance response physiology and signal transduction. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 1:305–10
- 130. Schenk PM, Kazan K, Wilson I, Anderson JP, Richmond T, et al. 2000. Coordinated plant defense responses in *Arabidopsis* revealed by microarray analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 97:11655–60
- 131. Scofield SR, Tobias CM, Rathjen JP, Chang JH, Lavelle DT, et al. 1996. Molecular basis of gene-for-gene specificity in bacterial speck disease of tomato. *Science* 274:2063–65
- 132. Sessions A, Burke E, Presting G, Aux G, McElver J, et al. 2002. A highthroughput Arabidopsis reverse genetics system. *Plant Cell* 14:2985–94
- 133. Shao F, Merritt PM, Bao Z, Innes RW, Dixon JE. 2002. A *Yersinia* effector and a *Pseudomonas* avirulence protein define a family of cysteine proteases functioning in bacterial pathogenesis. *Cell* 109:575– 88
- 134. Shapiro AD, Zhang C. 2001. The role of NDR1 in avirulence gene-directed signaling and control of programmed cell death in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 127:1089– 101
- 135. Shirano Y, Kachroo P, Shah J, Klessig DF. 2002. A gain-of-function mutation in an Arabidopsis Toll Interleukin1 receptor-nucleotide binding site-leucine-rich repeat type R gene triggers defense responses and results in enhanced disease resistance. *Plant Cell* 14:3149–62
- 136. Shirasu K, Lahaye T, Tan M-W, Zhou F, Azavedo C, Schulze-Lefert P. 1999. A novel class of eukaryotic zinc-binding proteins is required for disease resistance

signaling in barley and development in *C. elegans. Cell* 99:355–66

- 137. Shirasu K, Nakajima H, Rajasekhar VK, Dixon RA, Lamb CJ. 1997. Salicylic acid potentiates an agonist-dependent gain control that amplifies pathogen signals in the activation of defense mechanisms. *Plant Cell* 9:261–70
- Shirasu K, Schulze-Lefert P. 2003. Complex formation, promiscuity and multifunctionality in disease resistance pathways. *Trends Plant Sci.* 8:252–58
- 139. Slaymaker DH, Navarre DA, Clark D, del Pozo O, Martin GB, Klessig DF. 2002. The tobacco salicylic acid-binding protein 3 (SABP3) is the chloroplast carbonic anhydrase, which exhibits antioxidant activity and plays a role in the hypersensitive defense response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 99:11640–45
- 140. Somssich IE, Bollmann J, Hahlbrock K, Kombrink E, Schultz W. 1989. Differential early activation of defense-related genes in elicitor-treated parsley cells. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 12:227–34
- 141. Stahl EA, Dwyer G, Mauricio R, Kreitman M, Bergelson J. 1999. Dynamics of disease resistance polymorphism at the *RPM1* locus of *Arabidopsis*. *Nature* 400:667–71
- 142. Suharsono U, Fujisawa Y, Kawasaki T, Iwasaki Y, Satoh H, Shimamoto K. 2002. The heterotrimeric G protein alpha subunit acts upstream of the small GTPase Rac in disease resistance of rice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 99:13307–12
- 143. Suzuki K, Yano A, Shinshi H. 1999. Slow and prolonged activation of the p47 protein kinase during hypersensitive cell death in a culture of tobacco cells. *Plant Physiol.* 119:1465–72
- 144. Swiderski MR, Innes RW. 2001. The Arabidopsis *PBS1* resistance gene encodes a member of a novel protein kinase subfamily. *Plant J.* 26:101–12
- 145. Tameling WIL, Elzinga SDJ, Darmin PS, Vossen JH, Takken FLW, et al. 2002. The tomato *R* gene proucts I-2 and Mi-1 are

functional ATP-binding proteins with AT-Pase activity. *Plant Cell* 14:2929–39

- 146. Tang X, Frederick RD, Zhou J, Halterman DA, Jia Y, Martin GB. 1996. Physical interaction of avrPto and the Pto kinase defines a recognition event involved in plant disease resistance. *Science* 274:2060–63
- 147. Tao Y, Xie Z, Chen W, Glazebrook J, Chang HS, et al. 2003. Quantitative nature of Arabidopsis responses during compatible and incompatible interactions with the bacterial pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae*. *Plant Cell* 15:317–30
- 148. Tao Y, Yuan F, Leister RT, Ausubel FM, Katagiri F. 2000. Mutational analysis of the Arabidopsis nucleotide binding siteleucine-rich repeat resistance gene *RPS2*. *Plant Cell* 12:2541–54
- 149. Tian D, Traw MB, Chen JQ, Kreitman M, Bergelson J. 2003. Fitness costs of Rgene-mediated resistance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Nature* 423:74–77
- 150. Tör M, Gordon P, Cuzick A, Eulgem T, Sinapidou E, et al. 2002. Arabidopsis SGT1b is required for defense signaling conferred by several downy mildew (*Peronospora parasitica*) resistance genes. *Plant Cell* 14:993–1003
- 151. Tornero P, Chao R, Luthin W, Goff S, Dangl JL. 2002. Large scale structurefunction analysis of the Arabidopsis *RPM1* disease resistance protein. *Plant Cell* 14:435–50
- 152. Torres MA, Dangl JL, Jones JDG. 2002. Arabidopsis gp91-phox homologues AtrbohD and AtrbohF are required for accumulation of reactive oxygen intermediates in the plant defense response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99:523–28
- 153. Torres M-A, Onouchi H, Hamada S, Machida C, Hammond-Kosack KE, Jones JDG. 1998. Six Arabidopsis thaliana homologoues of the human respiratory burst oxidase (gp91-phox). Plant J. 14: 365–73
- 154. Trotochaud AE, Hao T, Wu G, Yang Z, Clark SE. 1999. The CLAVATA1 receptorlike kinase requires CLAVATA3 for

its assembly into a signaling complex that includes KAPP and a Rho-related protein. *Plant Cell* 11:393–405

- 155. Tsiamis G, Mansfield JW, Hockenhull R, Jackson RW, Sesma A, et al. 2000. Cultivar-specific avirulence and virulence functions assigned to *avrPphF* in *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *phaseolicola*, the cause of bean halo-blight disease. *EMBO* J. 19:3204–14
- 156. Uknes S, Mauch-Mani B, Moyer M, Potter S, Williams S, et al. 1992. Acquired resistance in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 4:645– 56
- 157. Van den Ackerveken G, Marois E, Bonas U. 1996. Recognition of the bacterial AvrBs3 protein occurs inside the plant cell. *Cell* 87:1307–16
- 158. van der Biezen EA, Jones JDG. 1998. The NB-ARC domain: a novel signalling motif shared by plant resistance gene products and regulators of cell death in animals. *Curr. Biol.* 8:R226–27
- 159. van der Biezen EA, Jones JDG. 1998. Plant disease resistance proteins and the "gene-for-gene" concept. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 23:454–56
- 160. Van Wees SC, Glazebrook J. 2003. Loss of non-host resistance of Arabidopsis NahG to Pseudomonas syringae pv. phaseolicola is due to degradation products of salicylic acid. *Plant J.* 33:733–42
- Wang Z-Y, Seto H, Fujioka S, Yoshida S, Chory J. 2001. BRI1 is a critical component of a plasma-membrane receptor for plant steroids. *Nature* 410:380–83
- 162. Ward ER, Uknes SJ, Williams SC, Dincher SS, Wiederhold DL, et al. 1991. Coordinate gene activity in response to agents that induce systemic acquired resistance. *Plant Cell* 3:1085–94
- 163. Warren RF, Henk A, Mowery P, Holub E, Innes RW. 1998. A mutation within the leucine-rich repeat domain of the Arabidopsis disease resistance gene *RPS5* partially suppresses multiple bacterial and downy mildew resistance genes. *Plant Cell* 10:1439–52

- 164. Warren RF, Merritt PM, Holub EB, Innes RW. 1999. Identification of three putative signal transduction genes involved in R gene-specified disease resistance in Arabidopsis. *Genetics* 152:401–12
- 165. Wendehenne D, Pugin A, Klessig DF, Durner J. 2001. Nitric oxide: comparative synthesis and signaling in animal and plant cells. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6:177–83
- White RF. 1979. Acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) induces resistance to tobacco mosaic virus in tobacco. *Virology* 99:410–12
- 167. Wildermuth MC, Dewdney J, Wu G, Ausubel FM. 2001. Isochorismate synthase is required to synthesize salicylic acid for plant defence. *Nature* 414:562– 65
- Wolpert TJ, Navarre DA, Moore DL, Macko V. 1994. Identification of the 100kD victorin binding protein from oats. *Plant Cell* 6:1145–55
- 169. Xiao S, Ellwood S, Calis O, Patrick E, Li T, et al. 2001. Broad-spectrum mildew resistance in *Arabidopsis thaliana* mediated by *RPW8. Science* 291:118–20
- 170. Yang B, Zhu W, Johnson LB, White FF. 2000. The virulence factor AvrXa7 of Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzae is a type III secretion pathway-dependent nuclear-localized double-stranded DNAbinding protein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 97:9807–12
- 171. Yang KY, Liu Y, Zhang S. 2001. Activation of a mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway is involved in disease resistance in tobacco. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 98:741–46
- 172. Yu D, Chen C, Chen Z. 2001. Evidence for an important role of WRKY DNA binding proteins in the regulation of NPR1 gene expression. *Plant Cell* 13: 1527–40
- 173. Zhang S, Du H, Klessig DF. 1998. Activation of the tobacco SIP kinase by both a cell wall-derived carbohydrate elicitor and purified proteinaceous elicitins from *Phytophthora* spp. *Plant Cell* 10:435–49

- 174. Zhang S, Klessig DF. 1998. The tobacco wounding-activated mitogen-activated protein kinase is encoded by SIPK. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:7225– 30
- 175. Zhang S, Klessig DF. 2000. Pathogeninduced MAP kinases in tobacco. *Results Probl. Cell Differ*. 27:65–84
- 176. Zhang S, Klessig DK. 1997. Salicylic acid activates a 48-kD MAP kinase in tobacco. *Plant Cell* 9:809–24
- 177. Zhou J, Tang X, Martin GB. 1997. The Pto kinase conferring resistance of tomato bacterial speck disease interacts

with proteins that bind a *cis*-element of pathogenesis-related genes. *EMBO J.* 16: 3207–18

- 178. Zhou N, Tootle TL, Klessig DF, Glazebrook J. 1998. PAD4 functions upstream of salicylic acid to control defense responses in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 10:1021–30
- 179. Zimmerman S, Nürnberger T, Frachisse J-M, Wirtz W, Guern J, et al. 1996. Receptor-mediated activation of a plant Ca²⁺-permeable ion channel involved in pathogen defense. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 94:2751–55

CONTENTS

IRA HERSKOWITZ (1946–2003), The Editors	1
TRANSPOSON-BASED STRATEGIES FOR MICROBIAL FUNCTIONAL	
GENOMICS AND PROTEOMICS, Finbarr Hayes	3
ERROR-PRONE DNA POLYMERASES: WHEN MAKING A MISTAKE IS THE ONLY WAY TO GET AHEAD, Alison J. Rattray and	
Jeffrey N. Strathern	31
GENETICS OF HAIR AND SKIN COLOR, Jonathan L. Rees	67
THIOL-BASED REGULATORY SWITCHES, Mark S.B. Paget and	
Mark J. Buttner	91
PSEUDOGENES: ARE THEY "JUNK" OR FUNCTIONAL DNA?	
Evgeniy S. Balakirev and Francisco J. Ayala	123
UNUSUAL LIFE STYLE OF GIANT CHLORELLA VIRUSES,	
James L. Van Etten	153
GENETICS OF LACTASE PERSISTENCE AND LACTOSE INTOLERANCE, Dallas M. Swallow	197
CELL POLARITY AND THE CYTOSKELETON IN THE CAENORHABDITIS	
ELEGANS ZYGOTE, Stephan Q. Schneider and Bruce Bowerman	221
THE SPINDLE ASSEMBLY AND SPINDLE POSITION CHECKPOINTS,	
Daniel J. Lew and Daniel J. Burke	251
LATERAL GENE TRANSFER AND THE ORIGINS OF PROKARYOTIC	
GROUPS, Yan Boucher, Christophe J. Douady, R. Thane Papke,	
David A. Walsh, Mary Ellen R. Boudreau, Camilla L. Nesbø,	202
Rebecca J. Case, and W. Ford Doolittle	283
GENETICS OF AGING IN THE FRUIT FLY, DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER,	220
Stephen L. Helfand and Blanka Rogina	329
NATURAL SELECTION AND THE EVOLUTION OF GENOME IMPRINTING,	240
Elena de la Casa-Esperon ana Carmen Sapienza	349
THE NEED FOR WINTER IN THE SWITCH TO FLOWERING,	271
Ian K. Henaerson, Chikako Shindo, and Caroline Dean	3/1
IRANSMISSION RATIO DISTORTION IN MICE, Mary F. Lyon	393

STRUCTURE, DIVERSITY, AND EVOLUTION OF PROTEIN TOXINS FROM SPORE-FORMING ENTOMOPATHOGENIC BACTERIA, <i>Ruud A. de Maagd</i> ,	
Alejandra Bravo, Colin Berry, Neil Crickmore, and H. Ernst Schnepf	409
YEAST VACUOLE INHERITANCE AND DYNAMICS, Lois S. Weisman	435
HEPARAN SULFATE CORE PROTEINS IN CELL-CELL SIGNALING, Kenneth L. Kramer and H. Joseph Yost	461
RETROTRANPOSONS PROVIDE AN EVOLUTIONARILY ROBUST NON-TELOMERASE MECHANISM TO MAINTAIN TELOMERES, Mary-Lou Pardue and P.G. DeBaryshe	485
A CYANOBACTERIAL CIRCADIAN TIMING MECHANISM, S.S. Golden, J.L. Ditty, and S.B. Williams	513
REGULATION OF CELL CYCLES IN DROSOPHILA DEVELOPMENT: INTRINSIC AND EXTRINSIC CUES, Laura A. Lee and Terry L. Orr-Weaver	545
RECOGNITION AND RESPONSE IN THE PLANT IMMUNE SYSTEM, Zachary Nimchuk, Thomas Eulgem, Ben F. Holt III, and Jeffrey L. Dangl	579
RECA-DEPENDENT RECOVERY OF ARRESTED DNA REPLICATION FORKS, Justin Courcelle and Phillip C. Hanawalt	611
INDEXES	
Subject Index	647
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 33–37	679
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 33–37	682

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Genetics* chapters may be found at http://genet.annualreviews.org/errata.shtml